1949

Norman H. Jordan v. Coca-Cola Bottling Company of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by the defendant from a verdict and judgment in favor of the plaintiff against the defendant in the sum of \$500.00, rendered by the Third District Court in a suit brought by the plaintiff to recover for damages claimed to have been sustained by him as a result of drinking from a bottle of contaminated Coca-

Cola. Defendant also appeals from the Order of District Court denying defendant's motion for a new trial.

In this brief, we shall refer to the parties as they appeared in the Court below.

THE FACTS

It is admitted by the pleadings that the defendant corporation is a Utah corporation, and is engaged in the bottling, distribution and sale of a soft drink generally known as Coca-Cola. (R. 6, 7 & 19.)

At the trial, plaintiff introduced evidence to the effect that he was an employee of the American Smelting and Refining Company (R. 78) and that on or about the 5th day of October, 1948, he purchased a bottle of Coca-Cola from a Coca-Cola Dispensing Machine, located on his employer's premises. (R. 79.)

The plaintiff drank from the bottle of Coca-Cola, what he described as "a big slug" of the beverage and at that time he discovered a large fly in his mouth. (R. 80.) About an hour later the plaintiff claims he became sick and nauseated and was sick intermittently for three days thereafter, suffering from nausea and diarrhea. (R. 81, 83.)

The plaintiff's Exhibit "A," a bottle of Coca-Cola containing two flies, was identified by the plaintiff as the bottle from which he drank, and was received in evidence by the Court. Plaintiff further testified that after he had purchased the bottle he removed the cap,

and that the cap came off "fairly hard" and about the same as caps from other bottles, which he had removed on the same day. (R. 89.) On cross-examination the plaintiff admitted that he did not consult a doctor and that he did not miss any time from work. (R. 905.) He further testified on cross-examination that he swallowed one fly and that he discovered another fly in his mouth, which he expectorated and then put back in the bottle, and that there was a third fly remaining in the bottle. (R. 93, 99.)

The testimony of the plaintiff, as to spitting out the fly after drinking from the bottle of Coca-Cola, was corroborated by the testimony of two fellow employees, Keith Wiseman (R. 99, 101) and Leslie L. Cramer (R. 112, 113.)

George D. Walker, a truck driver in the employ of the defendant, testified that the plant of the American Smelting and Refining Company was on his route (R. 103), and that he served the particular dispensing machine from which the plaintiff received the contaminated bottle of Coca-Cola. He testified that the dispensing machine was the type known as Venderlator number 242, and that that type of machine would hold ten cases of Coca-Cola. The machine had 22 racks, each holding 11 bottles of Coca-Cola. Coca-Cola was purchased from the machine by inserting a nickel in the slot provided for that purpose, which tripped a mechanism and automatically served a cold bottle of Coca-Cola. The machine also had a reserve compartment, holding 4 cases of

Coca-Cola. In addition to the reserve compartment in the vending machine, additional reserve stocks of Coca-Cola were kept in the office of the American Smelting and Refining Company's foreman. Guards employed by the refining company loaded reserve stocks into the dispensing machine on weekends. (R. 103.)

Les Anderson, Kelsey Rosander, or one of the guards employed by the American Smelting and Refining Company serviced the Coca-Cola dispensing machine on the night shift.

Bottles of Coca-Cola stored in reserve in the foreman's office were not locked up. They were stacked by the formen's desk. (R. 104.) The Coca-Cola delivered to the American Smelting and Refining Company was actually sold to the American Smelting and Refining Company. It was the custom for the witness to service the machine every day. (R. 106.)

On cross-examination, Walker testified that the dispensing machine was leased to the American Smelting and Refining Company and that the Coca-Cola was sold to the American Smelting and Refining Company in bulk. He reiterated on cross-examination that Coca-Cola might be removed from the reserve compartment of the vending machine to the mechanism of the vending machine by employees of the American Smelting and Refining Company. (R. 107.) The defendant corporation had nothing to do with money taken from the vending machine. (R. 108.)

Les Anderson, head guard for the American Smelting and Refining Company, testified that he, together with another employee of American Smelting and Refining Company, would collect the money from the vending machine and would refill the vending machine when necessary, which was about once a week. (R. 109.) The witness, together with Rosander and the guards employed by the American Smelting and Refining Company, had the keys to the dispensing machine and some of them filled the vending machine with Coca-Cola on the night shift at American Smelting and Refining Company as a part of their job.

The evidence on behalf of the defendant was to the effect that the most modern and best possible equipment was utilized by the defendant corporation in the washing of bottles, bottling of Coca-Cola, and inspection of the finished product; and that defendant corporation utilized every scientific invention known to man to assure that the product distributed by it for sale on the public market would be pure and wholesome.

Peter A. Hanes, the maintenance man for the defendant corporation, testified that he had been employed in that capacity by the defendant for the four years immediately preceding, and that he had been an employee of the defendant for seven years all together. Prior to that time he had worked for the Doctor Pepper Company, another bottler of soft drinks, for five years, also in the capacity of maintenance man. (R. 116.) The witness was familiar with the Bottler's Industrial Manual, a

trade journal of the bottling industry, which publication he received regularly. He had also visited bottling plants in other parts of the country and had observed their operation.

The witness identified the defendant's Exhibit 1, as a diagram of the Meyer-Dumore Washing Machine which was the type used by the defendant in its bottle washing operation. He testified that the washing machine was located in the front part of the defendant's plant in a room with a cement floor, plaster walls painted white and screened windows. The room was regularly sprayed with disinfectants. (R. 117.)

Mr. Hanes explained in some detail the defendant's bottle washing process, which can be briefly summarized as follows:

As the bottles enter the washing machine they first go into a rinse tube, which tube goes up into the bottle and rinses it for four seconds with water heated to a temperature of about 70°. The rinsing process is repeated at the next rack, making two rinses for each bottle.

After rinsing, the bottles proceed to the number 1 caustic tank, which contains a 3% caustic solution, heated to a temperature of 110°. The bottles are in caustic tank No. 1 for four minutes. When the bottles are removed from the caustic tank the caustic is drained out of the bottles and the bottles continue into another tank heated to a temperature of 150° and containing a 2% caustic solution where the bottles remain for an additional period of four minutes. From the second caustic

tank the bottles proceed to still another caustic tank containing a solution of 1% caustic at a temperature of 130° and again they are bathed in the caustic solution for four minutes. After being drained the bottles go through a fresh water tank, heated to a temperature of 100° where they are thoroughly rinsed for a period of three and a half to four minutes. The bottles are again drained and then they go over to the first set of bottle brushes, which are outside brushes.

The bottles then go to the "first rinse," where they receive an inside rinse. The rinsing tube shoots water into the bottle at 60 pounds pressure cleaning the bottle on the inside as it goes up and down, and remains there shooting water for a period of four seconds. After leaving the rinse tube, bottles come to the first inside brushes, which are water lubricated. The brushes go inside the bottles and brush the bottoms of the bottles on the inside at 60 pounds pressure and at 1200 revolutions per minute. Water goes through the center of the brushes as they revolve. The brushes are inside the bottle a period of about 4 seconds. The brushing process is repeated by a second set of brushes. From the brushing process the bottles go through another set of rinses like the ones heretofore described. After two more rinses the bottles go past the visual inspector and on to the filling machine.

As bottles pass the inspector they are in a single line. The inspector is aided by a fluorescent light which has a non-glare plate behind it. It is the job of the

inspector to examine the bottles as they go by the inspection light and to remove any defective bottles. After inspection the bottles go to the syruper where syrup is deposited in the bottles. While the bottle is in the syruper, it is protected from contamination by "a little collar about 2 inches in diameter," which comes down over the bottle while it is being syrupered. The bottle then receives the charge of carbonated water and during this process it is similarly protected from contamination. From there the bottle goes to the crowner, where it is capped. After being capped the bottle moves to the mixer where it is turned upside down and spun at approximately three thousand revolutions per minute. The bottle then proceeds to the automatic electric eye inspecting machine. That machine automatically rejects any bottle having any defect, or containing any foreign substance.

Hanes further testified that water used in the bottling process is regular city water, specially treated and filtered, and that from the time such water is treated until it is placed in the individual bottles of Coca-Cola, it is always in a sealed container and never exposed to flies or insects. The syrup used in the Coca-Cola also is in sealed containers during the entire bottling process. The syrup is twice screened, once as it leaves the barrel in which it was received by defendant, and again just before it goes into the individual bottles.

Hanes further testified that the automatic electric eye inspecting machine had been tested by running

through it test bottles of Coca-Cola, containing various foreign substances.

Defendant's Exhibit 6 is a bottle of Coca-Cola containing a small 12 shot, defendant's Exhibit 5 is a bottle of Coca-Cola containing a piece of cork, and defendant's Exhibit 4 is a bottle of Coca-Cola containing a bristle from a brush. All of those bottles had been passed through the inspecting machine many times and in every case the inspecting machine had rejected those test bottles. (R. 118 to 128.)

Hanes further testified that the equipment used by the defendant was the most up-to-date and modern equipment in use in the bottling industry, and that there was nothing better or more modern any place. In his experience he had never seen a finer bottling plant than the defendant's. Hanes also testified that the brushes used in the bottle washing process were inspected twice a day for wear and tear.

Raymond Wilmert, a field engineer for the Radio Corporation of America, with four years of training at the University of Illinois and 20 years experience with Western Electric Company and R.C.A. (R. 138-9), testified as follows:

R.C.A. was a seller of bottle inspecting machines (hereinafter referred to as B.I.M.) and there was a B.I.M. machine installed at the defendant's plant and it was there in September and October of 1948. (R. 139.) The operation of the B.I.M. was described as follows:

At the time the bottles of Coca-Cola pass through the B.I.M. the bottles are standing still, but the fluid within them is whirling. Any sediment, particles of dust, or any foreign substance in the bottle of Coca-Cola will interrupt the beam of light and cause the reject mechanism on the B.I.M. to operate and "kick" the bottle out of the line. If anything goes wrong with the B.I.M. it rejects all bottles rather than permitting defective bottles to pass through. The most difficult part of the task of maintaining the machine is to keep it adjusted so that it doesn't reject too many bottles.

The B.I.M. receives a maintenance inspection once per month, which inspection is performed by the witness. During the time he had performed the maintenance of this machine, he had never found it so out of order that it would not kick out any bottles having foreign matter in them, and it would be impossible for the machine to get out of order in that manner.

Mr. Wilmert further testified very positively that the Plaintiff's Exhibit "A," which was the bottle of Coca-Cola containing flies and other foreign matter from which the plaintiff drank, could not possibly go through the inspecting machine without being rejected. He also testified that he had many times seen defendant's Exhibits 4, 5 and 6, test bottles used by the defendant and containing various foreign articles which have heretofore been described, pass through the machine on many occasions and that in every instance the machine had rejected them. The witness testified that he knew of no better machine on the market than the one used by the

defendant, and that he had never seen a better or more up-to-date bottling plant. (R. 140-143.)

On cross-examination, Mr. Wilmert testified that the B.I.M. would reject bottles with bubbles (R. 144) that the B.I.M. would reject a bottle containing a fly in the bottom covered with syrup (R. 145.) On redirect examination he testified that whenever the B.I.M. failed it rejected all bottles, and it was necessary for the defendant to suspend bottling operations until repairs could be effected. (R. 146.)

Dr. Louis R. Curtis, a bacteriologist and sanitarian had had four years training at Cornell University, a doctor's degree in bacteriology and chemistry, experience as a bacteriologist for the Dairymen's League in New York State, two years of service with the National Dairy in Baltimore, Maryland, and three years experience as Chief Sanitarian in Salt Lake City (R. 147), testified that the defendant's building was modern, well planned and the last word in construction (R. 148); that it would be impossible for a bottle to go through the defendant's washing machine with three large flies in it (R. 149); that the hot caustic baths would tend to dissolve any organic matter present in the bottle (R. 150); and that it was highly improbable that any bottle could go through the defendant's washing process and still contain flies in the condition of those contained in the bottle known as Plaintiff's Exhibit "A."

J. T. Holding, a health officer of Salt Lake City Corporation for six years, employed as an inspector of

food and drinks, testified that it was his duty, among others, to inspect the establishments of bottling companies, and that from March through September, 1948, he had inspected the defendant's plant regularly. (R. 154.) The inspection was a general inspection, and included inspection for rodents and insects and inspection of windows and toilets. In September, 1948, screens at the defendant's plant were up, and were well kept. (R. 155.) The defendant's plant was one of the best beverage plants in the city. It had good equipment and was well kept up. He had never had any complaint of the defendant's plant and had never seen insects in the defendant's plant. (R. 162.) His inspection records showed no flies present in defendant's plant. (R. 156).

At this point in the case both parties rested and the defendant moved for a directed verdict. After considerable argument and discussion, leave was given to the plaintiff to reopen his case for the purpose of showing that the contaminated bottle from which the plaintiff drank was actually bottled by the defendant corporation. (R. 162.)

Kelsey Rosander, an employee of the American Smelting and Refining Company (R. 164), testified that when the dispensing machine at the American Smelting and Refining Plant was dry, he put reserve stocks of Coca-Cola into the machine. He and Les Anderson had keys to the machine. (R. 165). On cross-examination he testified that the Chief Watchman at the American Smelting and Refining plant has a key to the vending

machine, and when the Chief Watchman was not present other employees of the American Smelting and Refining Company used the Chief Watchman's key. (R. 169.)

Frank Baer, an employee of American Smelting and Refining Company (R. 170), testified that it was his duty to O.K. bills to the defendant company and that he never O.K.'d any bills to any other Coca-Cola Company (R. 171.) On cross-examination he testified that American Smelting and Refining Company bought and received Coca-Cola from the defendant Company and that American Smelting and Refinery Company leased the vending machine.

Les Anderson, another employee of American Smelting and Refining Company testified that he, Rosander and the guards had a key to the vending machine and that all together 14 people had access to the vending machine. (R. 175, 177.)

George Walker testified on cross-examination that at times when he had been loading the vending machine men at the American Smelting and Refining Company plant had come to him and exchanged bottles of Coca-Cola, asking to receive a cold bottle in place of a warm bottle. When such exchanges were made the warm bottles were loaded into the machine. (R. 181.) Mr. Walker did not know where the men got the warm bottles. (R. 182.) On redirect examination, he testified that he never examined the warm bottles to see whether or not they had been opened. (R. 182.)

Donald A. Carmichael, manager of the defendant company (R. 183), testified that there were Coca-Cola Bottling Companies at Ogden, Payson, Logan and Vernal and that those plants were not owned by the defendant company. He further testified that Coca-Cola comes into the Salt Lake territory from other territories. (R. 184.)

In view of the fact that the verdict was for the plaintiff, we recognize that all conflicts in evidence must be, for purposes of this appeal, resolved in favor of the plaintiff and that all facts necessary to support the verdict must be accepted as true if supported by credible evidence. For purposes of this brief, we assume as true that the plaintiff received a contaminated bottle of Coca-Cola from the vending machine at the American Smelting and Refining Plant; that he drank from the same, and that by reason thereof he became ill as described by him.

On the other hand, the evidence on the part of the defendant to the effect that the defendant's plant was equipped with the most modern and best equipment for bottling and distributing Coca-Cola, and that every human and mechanical precaution had been observed in order to insure that the beverage produced by the defendant company would be pure and wholesome, must be accepted as true, since such evidence is powerfully corroborated by the testimony of disinterested experts and is uncontradicted in any way, shape or form. It must also be accepted as true that when Coca-Cola bottled by the defendant corporation was delivered to the American Smelting and Refining Company Plant, it passed

from the possession of the defendant corporation and into the possession and control of American Smelting and Refining Company and its employees. The defendant corporation did not have any control whatsoever over the bottle marked as plaintiff's Exhibit "A" at the time plaintiff purchased it. It had been delivered to the American Smelting and Refining Company's plant at some time previous to the incident and was under the complete control of the American Smelting and Refining Company and its employees.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Defendant assigns as error the following Orders and Rulings of the Trial Court and actions on the part of counsel for the plaintiff and actions of the jury:

1. The Court erred in denying the defendant's motion for a directed verdict.
2. The Court erred in refusing to give defendant's requested instruction No. A.
3. The Court erred in refusing to give the defendant's requested instruction No. 1 in the language requested.
4. The Court erred in refusing to give defendant's requested instruction No. 5 in the language requested.
5. The Court erred in giving instruction No. 6.
6. The verdict is contrary to law and is unsupported by the evidence.

7. Counsel for the plaintiff was guilty of misconduct amounting to prejudicial error by continually referring to other law suits against this defendant, with the apparent purpose of causing the jury to believe that the defendant company was quite frequently in litigation of a similar nature and therefore was guilty frequently of putting contaminated Coca-Cola on the market. (R. 132, 144, and 159.)

8. The Court erred in denying defendant's motion for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1.

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD OF NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF THE DEFENDANT; BUT, ON THE CONTRARY, THE RECORD SHOWS AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE DEFENDANT EXERCISED THE HIGHEST POSSIBLE DEGREE OF CARE.

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