1949

Norman H. Jordan v. Coca-Cola Bottling Company of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE IS OVERWHELMING THAT THE DEFENDANT, COCA-COLA BOTTLING COMPANY, BOTTLED THE POISONOUS BOTTLE OF COCA-COLA FROM WHICH THE PLAINTIFF DRANK. In this regard the court's attention is respectfully called to plaintiff's EXHIBIT "A", on the bottom of which there is plainly printed "^{msm}~~Bottled in~~ Salt Lake City, Utah." It is undisputed that there is but one coca-cola bottling company in Salt Lake City, Utah, and that company is the defendant.

It is further undisputed that the defendant company has the exclusive franchise to serve Salt Lake City and vicinity, which includes the American Smelting and Refining Company at Garfield, Utah.

It is undisputed that the defendant's truck driver, George Walker, daily services the machine from which the plaintiff took the contaminated bottle. It was proved beyond reasonable doubt by testimony of Frank Baer, the head of the accounting division of the American Smelting and Refining Plant at Garfield, Utah, that the defendant company was the only company which had received payment for coca-cola sold to the American Smelting and Refining Company and placed in the subject dispensing machine.

It is further undisputed that the vending machine is owned and serviced by the defendant company. Kelsey Rosandar and Lester Anderson further testified that the only two keys to the subject machine were issued to them by the defendant company. Mr. Carmichael positively testified that he would not permit any other coca-cola bottling company to service the territory over which the defendant company had an exclusive franchise. The court, in instructing the jury, required them to find, before entering a verdict for the plaintiff, that the defendant company bottled and produced the coca-cola put in evidence as plaintiff's EXHIBIT "A". It must be assumed that the jury was well satisfied from the evidence that the defendant company had bottled and produced the bottle of coca-cola introduced as plaintiff's EXHIBIT "A". It is hard for the plaintiff to comprehend how, after the introduction of such overwhelming evidence and with the bottle itself having clearly printed on the bottom, "~~Bottled in~~^{made in} Salt Lake City, Utah", that the defendant could assert that the plaintiff had failed to show that the coca-cola which poisoned the plaintiff had been produced and bottled by the defendant corporation.

POINT 2

THE PLAINTIFF PRESENTED MORE THAN AMPLE EVIDENCE OF DEFENDANT'S NEGLIGENCE AND WAS PROPERLY GRANTED A VERDICT BY THE JURY.

Once again the defendant is attempting to confuse the issues of this case by his "Red Herring" cry of no

evidence. It should be kept in mind that the plaintiff's right of recovery is based upon two theories:

- a. Res Ipsa Loquitur.
- b. Breach of implied warranty.

Under the two theories set forth above the plaintiff presented undisputed evidence by wholly disinterested witnesses that the bottle of coca-cola taken directly from the coca-cola machine, owned and stocked daily by the defendant company, was contaminated and polluted by blow-flies and other poisonous substances. * * *

It becomes undeniable that at some time or place that some person had failed to exercise the proper care to prevent blow-flies and other noxious matter (see EXHIBIT "A") from the infestation of this bottle of coca-cola.

The defendant attempts to shy away from the responsibility of its law imposed liability by asserting that the defendant company lost control of this particular bottle by placing the same in its machine which had been leased to the American Smelting and Refining Company.

To illustrate the possibility of negligence of the defendant company, as well as to exculpate the other, it must be remembered that the evidence fully discloses the fact that all bottles of coca-cola taken to the American Smelting and Refining were capped, bottled and sealed at the defendant's place of business. In such circum-

stances it must be concluded that the unfortunate incident was caused by the lack of proper care on the part of the defendant company. Such conclusion is a natural one which is deductible from the facts of the case.

The defendant, in the trial of the case and now in his brief, is attempting to cloud the issues as set up in the plaintiff's complaint by trying to try this case on the basis of ordinary negligence. Save with one or two exceptions the cases cited in defendant's brief supports the theory of ordinary negligence and therefore are not pertinent to the real issues of this case. In line with defendant's tactics to avoid the real issues the defendant attempts to avoid the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* on the ground that the plaintiff failed to prove exclusive control of the instrumentality causing the harm at the time of injury. In support thereof the defendant has cited those cases involving the furnishing and the serving of food *not* involving a sealed product, but has cited those cases involving the furnishing and the serving of food *not* in sealed containers. The only exception is a few cases as handed down by the courts of North Carolina. Nearly all other states have adopted the rule firmly established since the decision of *Thomas vs. Winchester* and 6 N.Y. 297-57 Am. Dec. 455, which held:

“That a manufacturer of articles intended for human consumption owes a duty of care to the ultimate consumer to see that they are fit for such consumption. This duty, as well as the duty of an inkeeper to exercise reasonable care in the preparation and inspection of food being well established, the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*

would seem particularly appropriate in cases resulting from contaminated food, since there is usually exclusive control on the part of the manufacturer'' * * *

The slightest perusal of the cases reveals that the overwhelming weight of authority has adopted the rule which permits an inference of negligence where the article for consumption is in a sealed container.

In this case the bottle was capped and sealed, therefore, the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* was applicable since the coca-cola company is deemed to have had exclusive control. (Coca-cola is a sealed product. See *coca-cola bottling works of Evansville vs. Williams*, 27 N.E. (2nd) 702. *Nehi Beverage Co. vs. Hall*, 174 S.W. (2nd) 509. *Searle vs. Coca-Cola Bottling Works of Lexington, Ky.*, 179 S.W. (2nd) 598.) Under this theory, which was applied without question by the trial court, the actionable negligence consists in the defendant placing on the market a bottle of poisonous coca-cola, and the question as to how the coca-cola became poisoned is not part of the plaintiff's case. See *Cook vs. People's Milk Company*, 152 N.Y.S. 465.

The defendant Coca-Cola Company, in selling the Coca-cola, bottled under seal, and delivering to its dispensing machines for distribution and sale (regardless of whether the machine is leased or owned outright by defendant) assumed the obligation to the public to provide a wholesome beverage; and under the rule of *res ipsa loquitur* all the plaintiff need prove is that the

plaintiff purchased a bottle of coca-cola, such as the defendant admitted placing in the dispensing machine at the American Smelting and Refining, and that the coca-cola contained substances that were poisonous, and in drinking the coca-cola plaintiff became sick and poisoned. These facts, which were proved to the jury's satisfaction and beyond doubt, established the plaintiff's prima facie case against the defendant. Whether the dispensing machine, from which the coca-cola was purchased, was leased or owned by the defendant, or whether the defendant's manner of cleansing the coca-cola bottle is faulty, is not material to the plaintiff's case. See *Cook vs. People's Milk Company*, 152 N.Y.S. 465; *Rozumailaski vs. Philadelphia Coca-Cola Bottling Company*, 296 Pa. 114, 145 Alt. 700.

On the theory that care and preparation would have prevented the injury and that the manufacturer has exclusive control in "*Try-me Beverage Company vs. Harris*", 217, Alabama 302, 116, Southern 147, the court clearly sets forth the general rule: "The presence of foreign matter deleterious to health and sealed up in a bottle of soft drink IS EVIDENCE OF NEGLIGENCE."

The text book writers are in accord with the general rule that the theory of *res ipsa loquitur* applies to this type of case. Mark Shain in his recent book on *res ipsa loquitur* at page 447 states: "Courts are quite uniform in permitting an inference of negligence where the article for consumption is in a sealed container, on

the theory that care in preparation or inspection would have prevented the injury AND THAT THE MANUFACTURER HAD EXCLUSIVE CONTROL. (Emphasis ours).

The Maryland Courts in adopting the above rule held that the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* applied in the case of *Goldman and Freiman Bottling Co. vs. Sindell*, 140 MD. 488; 117 Atl. 866, saying: "FOR IT CERTAINLY CANNOT BE SAID that the presence of so dangerous a material as broken glass in a bottle of beverage represented as wholesome and safe, shown to be in it when sold by the manufacturer IS NOT EVIDENCE OF NEGLIGENCE ON HIS PART."

In a case involving practically the same circumstances as the instant case, the Pennsylvania Court applied the established rule. The case is titled *Rozumarski v. Philadelphia Coca-Cola Bottling Company* and is found at 296 Pa. 114; 145 Atl. 700, here the court said: "Where such substances get into the product, whose presence might possibly be due to that uncertain human quality,—carelessness, somewhere along the line, the manufacturer is responsible to a member of the Public injured thereby."

Mississippi adopted and applied the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* and held the Coca-Cola Company liable for damage in the case of *Chapman vs. Jackson Coca-Cola Company*, 106 Miss. 864, 64 So. 791, when a dead mouse was found in a bottle of Coca-Cola the

Court said: "When a manufacturer makes, bottles and sells to retail trade, to be again sold to the general public, a beverage represented to be refreshing and harmless, he is under a legal duty to see to it that in the process of bottling no foreign substance shall be mixed with the beverage, which, if taken into the human stomach, will be injurious." Citing *Watson v. Augusta Brewing Co.*, 124 Ga. 121, 52 S.E. 152, 1 L.R.A. (NS) 1178.

The Illinois Court applied the rule of *res ipsa loquitur* to a case presenting almost identical facts as the one at bar in the case of *Rost vs. Kee*, 216 Ill., App. 497.

In *Cook vs. Peoples Milk Co.*, 152 NYS 465, the New York Courts held the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* applies to sealed products and the manufacturer is liable for injuries caused by their sealed products, the Court in applying the general rule held: "The actionable negligence, which is denied by the defendant consists, if at all, in placing upon the market poisonous milk, and the question as to how the milk became poisoned is no part of the plaintiff's case. The defendant, in selling its milk bottled under seal, and delivered to merchants for distribution and sale, assumed the obligation to the public to provide wholesome milk; and if the plaintiff can establish the fact it purchased a quart of milk, such as the defendant admits having delivered to Mr. Emens (the grocery man) and that such milk contained active dangerous poison, and that in using such milk she was made sick, sore, etc., SHE HAS ESTABLISHED A

PRIMA FACIE CASE AGAINST DEFENDANT, AND THE PARTICULAR STORE IN WHICH DEFENDANT PURCHASED ITS BOTTLES, OR MANNER OF CLEANSING THE SAME, IS NOT MATERIAL TO PLAINTIFF'S CASE."

The court continued on page 468 after placing its stamp of approval on Thomas V. Winchester, *supra*, which originally set down the foregoing rule of law, said: "The principle of the above case (as set forth in the above paragraph) has been consistently followed both in this state and the Supreme Court of the United States. (Citing numerous cases.)

In *Richenbachver v. California Packing Corp.*, 250 Mass. 198, 203, 135, N. E. 281, 282 (1924), the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* was applied to canned good as well as sealed bottles. In a case involving a piece of glass found in a can of spinach, the Massachusetts court said: "The fact that the glass got into the can during the preparation of the spinach and before the can was sealed, was a circumstance which warranted an inference that some person whose duty it was to see that the system was observed was negligent in the examination of the contents of the can before it was sealed, if not negligent in preventing the presence of glass at a place where it could be put or might fall into the can."

In *Dryden v. Continental Baking Co.*, 77 P (2nd) 835, that California, in applying the rule of *res ipsa loquitur* said: "It goes without saying that any manufacturer intending his product for human consumption should

exercise a high degree of care to see that his products do not contain any foreign substance which, if swallowed, might cause bodily injury or death to the consumer * * *. In view of the above it seems only fair to presume that the presence of deleterious substances in a package of food occurs through some negligent act of omission or commission on the part of the agents of the manufacturer, citing *Linker vs. Quaker Oats*, 1 Fed. Supp. 794, and *Rozumailaski v. Philadelphia Coca Cola Bottling Co.*, 296 Pa. 114, 145 A 700."

The Court is urged to read the following cases which deal with facts and circumstances similar with this case: Each case cited upholds the trial court and the plaintiff by sustaining the application of the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* in this type of case:

Coca Cola Bottling works of Evansville, Inc., v. Williams (1941) 37 N.E. (2nd) 703; *Nehi Beverage Co. v. Hall* (1943) 174 S.W. (2nd) 509; *Seale v. Coca-Cola Bottling Works of Lexington, Ky.*, 179 S.W. (2nd) 598; *Kelly v. Ouachita Dairy*, 175 So. 199; *Auzenne vs. Gulf Public Service Co.*, 181 S.O. 54; *Hollis v. Ouachita Coca-Cola Bottling Co.*, 196 So. 376; *White v. Coca-Cola Bottling*, 16 So. (2nd) 579 (1944).

Should the court accept the defendant's theory and require positive evidence that the defendant was negligent in preparing this particular sealed product, such a rule would completely deprive this plaintiff of a remedy in court. It must be conceded that the furnishing of such proof is impossible. It was situations such as this

that resulted in the birth of the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*. The courts have long recognized that the remedies of injured consumers ought not be denied because of the intricacies of the law. Every consideration of law and public policy require that the consumer should have a remedy. See *Davis vs. Van Camp Packing Co.*, 189 Iowa 775; 176 N.W. 382. This being a sealed product the plaintiff respectfully submits that the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* applies on the theory that care in preparation or inspection would have prevented the injury and that the manufacturer had exclusive control. (North Carolina, being the only authority to the contrary.) This doctrine having been properly applied by the trial court and the jury having decided that the defendant was negligent in accordance with instruction No. 6 (R-188); and the defendant having failed to prove he was not negligent in accordance with instruction No. 7 (R-189) the jury's decision should stand. It is obvious that the jury was not impressed by evidence such as was introduced by Mr. Hanes, that defendant's plant was most up-to-date and he knew for he visited other plants "ON MY VACATIONS, AND WHENEVER I HAPPEN TO BE OUT OF TOWN."

Mr. Wilmert's testimony that the electric eye would kick out a bottle if it had a bubble in it was evidently more than the jury could "swallow". Especially when he testified the bottles are spun 1500 R. P. M., then stopped; then spun 3000 R.P.M., then stopped; then spun 3000 R.P.M., then stopped, and on the second stop carried pass the electric eye. (R-140).

It was evident that the jury was not too impressed with the testimony of Louis R. Curtis, a former fellow employee of Mr. Christensen, the defendant's attorney, who was effectively led by Mr. Christensen throughout his testimony which was obviously colored by prejudice. He admitted that he was appearing as a paid professional witness for the defendant coca-cola company. The testimony of Mr. Holding was likewise colored with prejudice and probably had little effect on the jury.

Under the law and facts as presented aforesaid the plaintiff respectfully submits that the District Court and Jury correctly found that there was a causal chain stretching between the act or omission on the part of the defendant and the injury to the plaintiff and that the defendant failed to prove he was not negligent. The jury's verdict should be affirmed.

POINT 3

THE PLAINTIFF PRESENTED MORE THAN AMPLE EVIDENCE FOR RECOVERY UNDER THE BREACH OF WARRANTY THEORY.

It is noted that the Plaintiff has cross assigned as error the trial Court's refusal to give Plaintiff's instructions No. III, No. IV, No. V, No. VI. These instructions were submitted to the court in accordance with the Plaintiff's second and alternative theory set forth in the Complaint—BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY.

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